
 

Please contact Gill Ferguson on  0151 471 7395 or e-mail 
gill.ferguson@halton.gov.uk  for further information. 
The next meeting of the Committee is on Thursday, 15 October 2009 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Chief Executive 
 

ITEMS TO BE DEALT WITH  
IN THE PRESENCE OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 

 
PART 1 

 
Item Page No 
  
1. MINUTES 
 

 

2. DECLARATION OF INTEREST   
 

 

 Members are reminded of their responsibility to declare any 
personal or personal and prejudicial interest which they have in 
any item of business on the agenda no later than when that item 
is reached and, with personal and prejudicial interests (subject 
to certain exceptions in the Code of Conduct for Members), to 
leave the meeting prior to discussion and voting on the item. 
 

 
 

3. NORTON PRIORY BUSINESS CASE 
 

1 - 6 

4. REVIEW OF WARRINGTON ROAD TRANSIT SITE 
 

7 - 13 

 
In accordance with the Health and Safety at Work Act the Council is 
required to notify those attending meetings of the fire evacuation 
procedures. A copy has previously been circulated to Members and 
instructions are located in all rooms within the Civic block. 

Executive Board Sub Committee 
 
Thursday, 24 September 2009 10.00 a.m. 
Marketing Suite, Municipal Building 

Public Document Pack



 1 

REPORT TO:    Executive Board Sub-Committee 
 
DATE:  24th September 2009 
 
REPORTING OFFICER:  Strategic Director, Health & Community 
 
SUBJECT: Norton Priory Catering Contract  
 
WARDS: Borough-wide 
 
 
 
1.0 
 
1.1 

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
To inform the Executive Board Sub Committee on the progress of 
the catering contract (Service Level Agreement) at Norton Priory 
which has been provided by Adults With Learning Disabilities  Day 
Services since 25th October 2008 and seek approval for the 
Business Plan 
 

2.0 
 

RECOMMENDATION:  
 
i) The Strategic Director, Health & Community in 

conjunction with the Portfolio Holder, Health & Social 
Care be authorised to continue and where appropriate 
extend the contractual arrangements with Norton Priory 
Trust to provide catering and related services at Norton 
Priory. 

 
3.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION 

 
3.1 The Council like many other councils across the UK, has found it 

difficult to meet the Care Quality Commission’s objectives of finding 
people known to Social Care, particularly those with Learning 
Disabilities, suitable employment opportunities. 
 

3.2 In July 2008 negotiations with Norton Priory led to the offer from 
Norton Priory to Adults with Learning Disability Day Services of a 
contract (SLA) to provide all the catering at Norton Priory. This 
included special, local and corporate events as well as the cafe. 
 

3.3 Day services had existing experience at providing community based 
catering projects at Murdishaw Café and Country Garden Buffet and 
has subsumed the Norton Priory contract into its current operations 
without any increase to establishment. 
 

3.4 The current ‘businesses’ run by Adults with Learning Disabilities 
(ALD) Day Services include: 
 
• The running of Vine Street Kitchen as the central commercial 

Agenda Item 3Page 1



 2 

kitchen producing dishes that are purveyed through Country 
Garden Catering (CGC) which operates at Norton Priory, 
Murdishaw Community Centre and through its borough wide 
Buffet Service. Two service users receive permitted earnings. 
 

• Murdishaw Café, which operates two days per week. It is 
expected that the café will extend its opening times to five days 
per week in the very near future. It is also expected to extend the 
model to Ditton Community Centre in partnership with Sure Start 
and Leisure (still pending). 
 

• The old Moorfield Kitchen remains as a training kitchen 
providing Vine Street and Norton Priory with experienced kitchen 
staff. 
  

• The Market Garden Service, which provides as much as the 
fresh produce as possible for the catering arms. Currently the 
market gardening contributes around a quarter of the fresh 
vegetables required by the catering businesses. This is a good 
start but additional land will be required if the businesses are to 
be self-sustaining. Currently five service users receive permitted 
earnings. 
 

• Cup Cake Catering (CCC) based at the Independent Living 
Centre (ILC).  Constituted with some eight ex-service users from 
Bridgewater this group provides cakes and specialist breads to 
CGC’s outlets at Norton Priory, Murdishaw and the Buffet Service 
 

• Norton Priory Museum refectory operates seven days per week 
with between two and six service users per day. Three service 
users receive permitted earnings. 

 
3.5 The catalyst that enabled these services to become more 

recognisable as businesses was the award of the contract to provide 
the catering at Norton Priory, which began officially on 5th December 
2008. This has been a genuinely commercial opportunity. The 
refectory at the museum is staffed Monday to Sunday with at least 
one member of staff and between 2 and 6 service users per day. 
Between the Norton Priory site, Murdishaw Café and Vine Street 
there are currently 5 service users receiving permitted earnings. 
 

3.6 The feedback at Norton Priory continues to be positive and warm 
with customers commenting favourably on the quality, cost, variety 
and the friendliness of the service. The standards are closely 
monitored and the repeat customer base is steadily increasing. 
 

3.7 Monthly meetings are held with Norton Priory Trust’s management 
team. The relationship remains strong and mutually beneficial. The 
success of the service and healthy relationship has provided further 
opportunities to cater for fetes and larger corporate occasions, for 

Page 2



 3 

example, the medieval weekend of the 1st and 2nd of August ’09 
during which over £1,000 was taken.  
 

3.8 The Market Garden business evolved out of the horticulture projects 
run by ALD Day Services. The rationale is simple; grow produce that 
can be sold. The produce is sourced from: Hough Green, Deansway 
Allotments, Norton Priory Gardens and a small plot at Murdishaw 
Community Centre and sold directly to CGC. The ILC Market Garden 
Raised Beds Project will come online shortly helping to raise 
production levels and provide gardening opportunities to people with 
mobility problems. More land will be required for cultivation if it is to 
be profitable in the longer term. 
 

3.9 Nonetheless the group has persevered and takes around £600 per 
month. The group has no permanent staff support and will not be 
given such support in the future – the emphasis being on 
independence. This does have an effect on production levels. CCC 
is supplied via CGC with ingredients, equipment and advice. CGC 
put in weekly orders and distribute to the outlets. Expansion will 
happen but it will need to go at the pace of those running the 
business. 
 

4.0 BUSINESS CASE 
 

4.1 Since the 5th December ‘08 CGC’s takings from Norton Priory, the 
buffets and the 2 days per week at Murdishaw Cafe amounts to 
£29,500. Two thirds of this is made up from the trade at Norton 
Priory. 
 

4.2 Based on this trading history the figures demonstrate that this is a 
profitable business. Margins are around 33% though it must be 
emphasised that the real costs of labour, i.e. the costs associated 
with the staff who support the service users to provide the services, 
are already paid for and effectively subside the business. This is not 
to say that in the future the projects could not be outsourced or act 
as stand-alone enterprises.  
 

4.3 With this success (please note CGC received a ‘Green Tag’ - 
denoting an exemplar service in the recent Care Quality Commission 
Annual Review Meeting feedback) have come opportunities to 
diversify into other areas. 
 

4.4 The following are projects and businesses that Day Services and 
colleagues from the Children & Younger People Directorate have 
worked on in the belief that they are both achievable and 
sustainable:  
 

4.4.1 Priory Ales Microbrewery (PAM) (Working title) 
 
This is an ambitious initiative that will require full support to achieve. 

Page 3



 4 

Several meetings have taken place with Norton Priory management, 
board members, Children and Young Peoples services, Property 
Services and most importantly Patsy Slevin the founder and master 
brewer for Prospect Brewery in Wigan. Patsy and her beer were 
featured on the recent TV program ‘Ozz and James Big Adventure’ – 
a tour of great British vintners and brewers aired earlier this year. 
Patsy’s background before becoming a brewer was in specialist 
education. Patsy’s view is that the site is ideally suited for a small 
brewery and will offer a wide range of opportunities to develop all 
kinds of skills including teamwork and working to deadlines. The 
relationship to the Priory will be a major selling point and is likely to 
increase the number of visitors. The brewery itself will adjoin the 
tearooms (see below) and visitors will be able to see the brewery at 
work enhancing the attractions and pulling power of the museum 
resulting in a healthy bottom line all around. 
 
The proposal to establish a microbrewery at Norton Priory was 
approved by the Norton Priory Board of Trustees on Monday the 27th 
July 2009. There is to be further discussion on the financing of the 
project.  
 
The production of beer even at this level is relatively complex and 
requires expert knowledge. Patsy Slevin will provide this. Beer 
production involves a great number of separate tasks, which will 
provide opportunities for a great number and wider range of people 
of all abilities. Many tasks are ideally suited for people on the Autistic 
Spectrum Disorder (ASD) a group that will be specifically targeted 
for working recruits. 
 

4.4.2 Priory Tea Rooms 
 
This is a much simpler proposition and involves the refurbishment of 
the ‘other end’ of the long building housing the brewery. This end 
consists of three rooms one of which needs cooking and 
refrigeration facilities. The remaining rooms need tables and chairs. 
Situated by the walled gardens and the brewery it is ideal for the 
provision of cream teas, scones, home made jams and breads. It is 
in effect an extension of the successful refectory operation in the 
main building and carries minimal risk. It will of course extend the 
possibilities for people to experience and gain work. 
 

5.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S PRIORITIES 
 
This proposal supports the national guidance “Valuing People Now  
2009”, which requires agencies to provide a holistic service and job 
opportunities to people with learning disabilities. 
 

5.1 Children & Young People in Halton  
 
All the proposals for development outlined above will include 

Page 4



 5 

opportunities for young people not in education, employment or 
training (NEETs). From June this year an officer from Children & 
Young People’s Services has sat on the Day Services Projects 
Board and played a full part in proposals and developments. To date 
3 care leavers aged between 18 and 21 have been identified as  
suitable to become involved in the projects one of whom will start 
supervised work with Day Services under the ‘Apprenticeship’ 
scheme shortly. It is expected that this relationship will develop 
mutually benefiting both divisions and introducing a greater number 
of young people into the world of work. 
 

5.2 Employment, Learning & Skills in Halton  
 
These proposals will increase the opportunities of service users 
seeking volunteering and employment opportunities. With the 
initiative of the microbrewery there arises a technical and production 
opportunity whose ambition extends beyond the eponymous catering 
and gardening services found all over the UK. 
 
From Bridgewater alone Cup Cake Caterers have been set up with 
some 8 service users who bake cakes and confections for sale at 
Country Garden outlets. These include, Norton Priory, Murdishaw 
Café and the buffet service. These service users no longer attend 
Bridgewater and will be in receipt of permitted earnings once their 
production levels can meet the bill. In other areas Country Garden 
Catering and the Market Garden service provides 10 people with 
permitted earnings and a total of 84 places for voluntary or work 
experience placements. The addition of the microbrewery, 
hairdressers, ILC raised beds, tearooms and chicken sanctuary 
should provide at least a further 100 places. Significantly through the 
inclusion of young people leaving care in these developments the 
department will assist in the councils objectives for NEETs. 
 

5.3 A Healthy Halton 
 
It is difficult to evidence actual physical health improvements as a 
result of developing these cottage industries but what is clear is that 
those who have moved out are happier and more fulfilled – and this 
must have a positive impact on physical health. 
 

5.4 A Safer Halton  
 
The movements out of the centres will have an impact on transport 
and Fleet Transport in particular. Close liaison with transport and 
ALD services to prevent doubling up is essential and has begun. 
 

5.5 Halton’s Urban Renewal 
 
None identified. 
 

Page 5



 6 

6.0 
 
6.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
As the staff supporting the project are already remunerated by the 
council any revenues will not be subject to the demands of wages 
thus providing a successful trading opportunity and one that will not 
leave the council with a loss. Given our experiences with Country 
Garden Catering it is fully expected that the additional projects will 
contribute to an increase in the number of people receiving permitted 
earnings as a result of profits.  
 

7.0 
 
7.1 
 
 
 
 
7.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 

RISK ANALYSIS 
 
Using day service support workers as casual staff via the Stadium 
has resolved the issue of covering the contract during weekends and 
Bank Holidays. The average monthly costs of these staff of £400 
have been met out of the profits generated from the catering itself.  
 
The inclusion of the Day Services Office (DSO) with specific 
responsibility for the weekend catering services (funded from within 
the existing establishment) will also add further expertise to the 
catering arm and will be vital in expanding the services into other 
areas and securing its long-term future lead officer working at 
weekends.  

8.0 
 
8.1 

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES 
 
This proposal will enhance the opportunities of people with 
disabilities to gain employment and significantly assist the authority 
to maintain its three star rating. It is also expected that these 
proposals will secure further ‘Green Tag’ awards and substantially 
improve the profile of the authority on the national stage. 
 
 

9.0 LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100D OF  
THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 
 

Document 
 

Place of Inspection 
 

Contact Officer 

Valuing People 2001 Runcorn Town Hall 
2

nd
 Floor 

Audrey Williamson 
Operational Director 
Adults of Working Age 
 

Valuing People Now 
2008 
 

Runcorn Town Hall 
2

nd
 Floor 

Audrey Williamson 
Operational Director 
Adults of Working Age  

 

Page 6



 
REPORT TO: Executive Board Sub 
 
DATE: 24th September 2009 
 
REPORTING OFFICER: Strategic Director, Health and Community 
 
SUBJECT: Review of Warrington Road Transit Site 
 
WARD(S): Daresbury 
 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 This report provides details of operational information and costs 

incurred during the six months following the opening of the site on 10 
February 2009.  

 
2.0 RECOMMENDATION: that the Board reviews the current charging 

arrangements in respect of the transit site. 
  
3.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 
3.1 When setting the £11 per day charge in October 2008 the Board, 

conscious that many elements of the forecast operational budget were 
estimates, decided to review the charge after 6 months of operational 
experience. Appendix 1 sets out the original budget forecast (based on 
an assumption of achieving 90% occupancy levels), actual costs 
incurred during the first 6 months of operations, and a revised budget 
forecast. 

 
3.2 Appendix 2 details actual occupancy levels achieved for the first half 

year, and the revised budget forecast in the final column of Appendix 1 
is based on achieving an occupancy level of 60%, which is more in 
keeping with experience to date. Some of the costs are still estimated 
in the absence of bills having been received for certain services (most 
notably water charges), and assumptions have had to be made about 
charges over the full year for electricity as winter consumption is likely 
to be higher than the first half year. Nevertheless this budget forecast 
represents the best estimate that can be made at this stage.  

 
3.3 Given the stated assumptions, the site is forecast to produce a deficit of 

just £1,723 over a full year, but this should be set in the context of the 
wider savings achieved in not having to deal with the usual level of 
unlawful encampments. Police records show that during 2005, the year 
before a managed approach was started with Haddocks Wood, there 
were 83 encampments in Halton. During 2006, 2007 and 2008, the 
period of the Haddocks Wood managed encampment, there were 66, 
21 and 10 encampments respectively. There have been just 2 since the 
transit site opened, one of these being a family waiting over night to 
move on to the transit site, and the other was moved within 48 hours by 
the Police using powers available only due to the existence of the 

Agenda Item 4Page 7



transit site. There have been no further encampments in the intervening 
period. 

 
3.4 Financial provision for dealing with unlawful encampments has never 

appeared as an explicit item in Directorate budgets, but in May 2007 an 
exercise was undertaken to try to quantify the cost for the period 
2005/06 and 2006/07. The combined results from the relevant sections 
in each Directorate were as follows – 
 
Staff time     £94,053 
Facilities (bins, toilets etc.)    £13,490 
Clear up costs    £42,600 
Private Bailiffs    £69,100 
Land protection measures    £38,470 
TOTAL              £257,713 
 

      or £128,856 per year. 
 

 This excludes the substantial Police costs involved as well. 
 
3.5 The site has clearly been a success in terms of meeting its original aim 

of reducing the costly and time consuming problem of unauthorised 
encampments in Halton. Halton’s new approach to managing Traveller 
issues has been applauded by Traveller organisations, the Police and 
neighbouring Councils, and the reduction in encampments has also 
been welcomed by local businesses. It also means that Halton has 
already met its target for the provision of transit site accommodation 
proposed in recent draft figures set out under the partial review of the 
Regional Spatial Strategy. 

 
3.6 A report was presented to the Urban Renewal Policy and Performance 

Board on the 17 June 2009 outlining how the site had been operating 
since it opened on the 10 February 2009 including similar (but not as 
up to date) information to that included in this report.  The 
recommendations were noted at the Executive Board Sub Committee 
on 10 September 2009. The Sub Committee requested that its original 
resolution on 16th October 2008, that a report be submitted after 6 
months to review income against costs, be presented on 24 September 
2009. This report should give the actual financial information for 6 
months as well as the occupancy information The Committee also 
requested the latest forecast information so that an informed view on 
charging could be taken.  

 
3.7   Feedback was requested on the number of illegal encampments that 

have occurred in the Borough since the opening of the transit site and 
comparative information from neighbouring local authorities. 

 
 
4.0 POLICY IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 There are no policy implications arising from the report. 
 
 

Page 8



 
5.0 OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 None. 
 
6.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S PRIORITIES 
 
6.1 Children and Young People in Halton 
 

Although some households using the site stay for only a few days, 
those staying longer are being provided with advice and support to get 
their children into school. 

 
6.2 Employment, Learning and Skills in Halton 
 
 None identified. 
 
6.3 A Healthy Halton 
 

Travellers have a reduced life expectancy compared to average 
national rates. Stays at the transit site are affording Travellers the 
opportunity to access health and social care services more readily, and 
to benefit from a decent level of sanitation.  

 
6.4 A Safer Halton 
 

Roadside encampments are inherently unsafe, and reducing their 
occurrence through the provision of the transit site has reduced those 
risks.  

 
6.5 Halton’s Urban Renewal 
 

Proactively managing the problem of unlawful Traveller encampments 
has lessened the concerns of businesses in the area, particularly those 
on the industrial estates that historically have seen most encampments, 
and should help to persuade them to remain and develop in Halton. 

 
7.0 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES 
 
7.1   The provision of a well managed, safe, fully serviced site to 

accommodate transient Travellers is consistent with the Councils 
equality and diversity policy. 

 
8.0 LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100D OF THE 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 
  
 Document Place of inspection Contact Officer 
  
 Report to Exec Board  Runcorn Town Hall S Williams  
 Sub 16/10/08 
 
 Report to UR PPB     Runcorn Town Hall         S Williams 
 17th June 2009 

Page 9



 
Report to Exec Board  Runcorn Town Hall S Williams  

 Sub 10/09/09 
 
 

 

Page 10



APPENDIX 1 
 

     Original budget 
estimate* 

Expenditure 
10/2/09 to 

10/8/09 

Forecast Full  
Year Budget** 

   

Expenditure              

Warden     13,000  6,500  13,000      

Telephone     250  33  100      

Water      4,266  0  2,844      

Cleaning materials    450  112  250      

Septic Tank Emptying    9,000  2,100  4,900      

Electricity     9,362  2,817  6,963 25% added to second half year due to covering winter  

Refuse collection    8,000  0  3,076  months.    

Maintenance    5,000  550  1,000      

Annual electrical safety check   500  0  500      

Insurance     500  0  71      

None domestic rates    2,500  2,595  2,595      

Sink fund for cyclical maintenance.  2,000  0  0      

     54,828  14,707  35,299      

               

Income               

Rent (13 pitches X 52 weeks X £77 (£11 per day) ) 46,847  15,818  31,636      

Sale of elec. prepayment cards   7,362  862  1,940 25% added to second half year due to covering winter  

     54,209  16,680  33,576  months.    

               

Net Expenditure    619  -1,973  1,723      

               

               

Notes               

               

* based on 90% occupancy rate             

               

** based on 60% occupancy rate             

               

Water rates pro rata Riverview site as no bill yet received on 
which to refine estimate. 

         

               

 

P
a
g
e
 1

1



APPENDIX 2 
 
 

Weekly Occupancy Rate

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26
week

%
Transit pitches only

Whole site

Whole site cumulative

P
a

g
e
 1

2



 

Page 13


	Agenda
	3 Norton Priory Business Case
	4 Review of Warrington Road Transit Site

